COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVEN P. KOZOL,

Appellant,

vs.

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, et al. Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY HONORABLE CHRISTOPHER WICKHAM

APPELLANT STEVEN P. KOZOL'S OPENING BRIEF (Corrected)

ORIGINAL

STEVEN P. KOZOL
Appellant/Plaintiff, Pro Per
DOC# 974691
Stafford Creek Corr. Center
191 Constantine Way
Aberdeen, WA 98520
(360)537-1800
www.FreeSteveKozol.com

INTRODUCTION

A party has a right for state agency to follow statutory requirements. When a state agency acts in violation of statute, code, ordinance, constitution or common law, a party can seek relief under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (UDJA), in situations where the Administrative Procedures Act does not apply.

A party seeking judicial review of agency action under the UDJA can obtain declaratory judgment that the agency's actions were in violation of statute, or a declaratory judgment as to that party's rights, status or other legal relation(s) under a specified statute.

Judicial review under the UDJA is not precluded simply because the party seeking review may have another alternate remedy available.

A writ of certiorari is the proper method to obtain judicial review of a state agency's administration of a statute.

A writ of certiorari is the proper method to obtain judicial review of a state agency's arbitrary, capricious or illegal action.

When moving to amend the pleadings, the trial court shall freely grant leave to amend in such cases where there is no actual and clear prejudice shown by the nonmoving party.

Injuctive relief is a proper method to enjoin future violations of statute, and to compel the performance of an affirmative act.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No. 1: The trial court erred in granting CR 12(c) dismissal of Appellant's UDJA claims.

Assignment of Error No. 2: The trial court erred in denying leave to amend the complaint.

Assignment of Error No. 3: The trial court erred in dismissing injunctive relief claims.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 1:

- <u>Issue 1.1</u>: Was there a lack of subject matter jurisdiction to hear UDJA claims?
- <u>Issue 1.2</u>: Did a justiciable controversy exist allowing UDJA review?
- <u>Issue 1.3</u>: Is a private cause of action required for UDJA review?
- <u>Issue 1.4:</u> Did Appellant have standing to bring UDJA claims?
- <u>Issue 1.5</u>: Does the UDJA permit judicial review of an agency's or individual's actions allegedly in violation of statute?
- <u>Issue 1.6:</u> Is <u>Bainbridge Citizens United</u> controlling authority on Appellant's UDJA claims?
- <u>Issue 1.7</u>: Is UDJA review precluded when statute allegedly violated also carries criminal implications, but party seeking relief does not file criminal complaint?
- Issue 1.8: Was there an alternate available remedy of a 42 U.S.C. §1983 action against the Washington Department of Corrections?

- <u>Issue 1.9</u>: Was there an alternate available remedy of a Personal Restraint Petition?
- <u>Issue 1.10</u>: Was there an alternate, adequate available remedy of a tort action?
- <u>Issue 1.11</u>: Does an available tort remedy categorically preclude UDJA review?
- <u>Issue 1.12</u>: Is <u>Kitsap County v. Smith</u> controlling on Appellant's UDJA claims?
- <u>Issue 1.13</u>: Does declaratory judgment provide a conclusive determination of the controversy?

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 2:

- <u>Issue 2.1</u>: Was amendment of the complaint to be freely granted?
- <u>Issue 2.2</u>: Was there any actual prejudice to Respondents that precluded leave to amend being granted?
- Issue 2.3: Is it improper to deny leave to amend on the basis that the proposed amendment raises new issues not initially pled?
- Issue 2.4: Is a motion to amend untimely when brought after oral ruling granting CR 12(c) dismissal, but before formal entry of order of dismissal?
- <u>Issue 2.5</u>: Is a writ of certiorari a proper method to obtain judicial review of arbitrary, capricious, or illegal agency action?
- <u>Issue 2.6</u>: Is a writ of certiorari a proper method to obtain judicial review of an agency's administration of a statute?

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 3:

<u>Issue 3.1</u>: Is injunctive relief proper to enjoin future violations of statute, or to compel an affirmative action to restore the ongoing denial of property to its owner?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Steven P. Kozol is an inmate incarcerated at the Stafford Creek Corrections Center (SCCC) in Aberdeen, Washington.

Mr. Kozol was housed at McNeil Island Corrections Center (MICC)

before being transferred to SCCC. While at MICC, Mr. Kozol was allowed to purchase a blue Ibazez S-Model electric guitar (serial# I090204088) and accessories. CP 131. These items were approved and issued to Mr. Kozol by MICC staff, and added to his official MICC musical property matrix. CP 133-134. MICC shipped this guitar and accessories as authorized property when Mr. Kozol transferred to SCCC. CP 136. SCCC staff issued to Mr. Kozol all music equipment except for the guitar, guitar case, and a tumer/effects processor. CP 138-140.

SCCC staff would not issue the guitar and accessories to Mr. Kozol because he couldn't produce a store sales receipt, and then filed a major infraction against Mr. Kozol, alleging violation of WAC 137-28-740.

SCCC staff conducted a hearing on this infraction on April 6, 2011. At this hearing, SCCC hearing officer <u>pro tem</u> Greg Jones stated on the record that Mr. Kozol did not receive most of the evidence against him prior to the hearing. CP 64-65. Mr. Jones also refused to allow Mr. Kozol to submit documentary evidence in his defense. CP 66. The hearing was also conducted without 24 hours notice being given to Mr. Kozol. CP 66.

Mr. Jones found Mr. Kozol guilty of the infraction and imposed 10 days of cell confinement as sanction. CP 84. Mr. Kozol was also forced to ship his guitar and accessories out of the prison. RP1, at 5.

Mr. Kozol filed a timely administrative appeal to the SCCC Superintendent. On April 21, 2011, Associate Superintendent Eric Jackson issued a Disciplinary Hearing Appeal Decision upholding the guilty finding, in which he officially stated that the hearing "was conducted in accordance with Due Process and WAC 137-28," that Mr. Kozol was given "at least 24 hours advance written notice" of the hearing, and that Mr. Kozol was "provided an opportunity to...present documentary evidence on [his] behalf." CP 68. Associate Superintendent Jackson also certified that he had "investigated [Kozol's] appeal," and that "all pertinent evidence was reviewed." CP 69.

Associate Superintendent Jackson signed this document and filed it with the Washington State Department of Corrections. This document is governed by Executive Order 00-03, RCW 42.56 and RCW 40.14. CP 69.

Appellant filed a complaint in superior court for declaratory relief under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, RCW 7.24 et seq, and for injunctive relief under RCW 7.40 et seq.

Appellant specifically requested the court enter declaratory

The Verbatim Report of Proceedings dated October 4, 2013 and November 1, 2013 are designated as RP1 and RP2, respectively. The Verbatim Report of Proceedings dated June 28, 2013 are designated as Supplemental RP3.

judgment declaring the actions of the Respondent Washington

Department of Corrections (WDOC) were unconstitutional, unlawful

and void, and injunctive relief enjoining the WDOC from using

the erroneous infraction against him. CP 4-6.

Respondent filed its answer in which it presented, <u>inter</u>

<u>alia</u>, the affirmative defense that Mr. Kozol had failed to state

a claim upon which relief can be granted because he "had not

alleged facts that rise to the level of a civil rights deprivation

under 42 U.S.C. §1983, or a violation [of] law." CP 7-10.

Accordingly, Appellant filed a motion to amend his complaint accompanied by the proposed First Amended Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief. The proposed amended complaint omitted all reference to "due process" or "constitutional" rights violations, and added two additional named defendants, Greg Jones and Eric Jackson. CP 11-20.

Respondent filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to CR 12(c) in which it categorized Appellant's complaint as a "Civil Rights Action," and requested dismissal on the ground that the State cannot be a party defendant for purposes of a §1983 civil action. CP 21-24. Respondent also filed a response to Mr. Kozol's motion to amend, stating it did not oppose the proposed amendment. CP 25-26.

At the June 28, 2013 hearing, the trial court granted Mr. Kozol leave to amend his complaint as proposed. Supp. RP3, at 3. Additionally, after considering the parties oral arguments,

the court partially granted the WDOC's motion to dismiss, expressly dismissing with prejudice "any civil rights/42 U.S.C. §1983 claims." CP 27-29.

Accordingly, Mr. Kozol filed and served his First Amended Complaint adding Eric Jackson and Greg Jones as defendants, and removing any claims of constitutional or due process violations. CP 30-36. Respondents filed their Answer to First Amended Complaint. CP 37-41.

Respondents then filed a CR 12(c) motion to dismiss. CP 42-48. Appellant's response and motion to strike was then filed (CP 156-165), whereupon Respondents filed an amended CR 12(c) motion to dismiss. CP 49-57.

In its amended CR 12(c) motion, Respondents asserted that

(a) the trial court did not have subject matter jurisdiction

over Mr. Kozol's claims for declaratory and injunctive relief

for the alleged violations of state statute and Washington

Administrative Code, (b) that Mr. Kozol did not have an

independent cause of action in his seeking declaratory relief

under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (UDJA), chapter 7.24

RCW, nor in seeking injunctive relief under chapter 7.40 RCW,

(c) that Mr. Kozol was not permitted to seek judicial review

under the UDJA for Respondent's actions in violation of statute,

and, (d) the alternate adequate remedy of a Personal Restraint

Petition precluded judicial review of Mr. Kozol's UDJA claims.

CP 49-57.

Appellant's response argued that (a) the superior court has original jurisdiction to review the claims brought under the UDJA, (b) that no private cause of action is required for judicial review under the UDJA, and (c) the superior court could review the claims under the court's inherent power of judicial review. CP 156-165.

Appellant retained counsel who entered a notice of appearance. CP 150-151. Respondents filed their reply on the CR 12(c) motion, arguing that the superior court did not have jurisdiction to issue declaratory relief on violations of state statute, that the UDJA was improper to review Appellant's claims, and that UDJA review was precluded because Appellant still had the available, adequate remedy of a §1983 action. CP 92-98.

The superior court conducted a hearing on the CR 12(c) motion, and heard oral arguments of the parties. RP1, 1-18. The court orally granted Respondents' motion to dismiss, but set over the signing of an order so as to allow Appellant time to present additional claims or remedies that were not yet considered, stating, "I don't want to foreclose remedies that Mr. Kozol may have that we haven't considered." RP1, at 16.

Appellant filed a motion to amend the complaint, to add claims that (a) WAC 137-28-140 is facially invalid as arbitrary and capricious, (b) Respondents must be enjoined from violating their own administrative code, (c) a writ of certiorari must be issued finding the 740 infraction hearing procedure to be arbitrary and capricious. CP 99-109.

The amended complaint also sought to add declaratory judgment claims that (a) all inmates have the right under WAC 137-28 to present evidence in their defense if it is not unduly hazardous to institutional safety or correctional goals, (b) all inmates have the right under WAC 137-28 to 24 hours notice before a 740 infraction hearing, (c) that all Disciplinary Hearing Appeal Decisions are public records in accordance with RCW 42.56.010(1) and RCW 4.14.010, (d) that all inmates have the right not to have a false Disciplinary Hearing Appeal Decision filed with a public agency pursuant to RCW 40.14.020 and/or RCW 40.14.030, and RCW 42.20.020. CP 107-109.

The amended complaint also sought either a statutory or constitutional writ of certiorari finding Respondents violated Appellant's fundamental right to be free from arbitrary and capricious action denying him the right to review evidence used against him, to be free from the arbitrary and capricious action of not providing 24 hours notice of the hearing, and to be free from the arbitrary and capricious action denying him the right to present evidence in his defense. CP 109. The amended complaint sought injunctive relief enjoining Respondents from using the 740 infraction against Appellant, and that either Appellant's music property be returned and issued to his possession or Respondents pay for replacement property. CP 109.

Respondents filed a response to the motion to amend, arguing that (a) the motion to amend was untimely, and (b) that the motion to amend was futile. CP 110-117. On Reply, Appellant asserted that his motion to amend was neither untimely nor futile, that the requirements had been met for the court to hear the writ petition, and that the 740 infraction hearing was so severely flawed as to require intervention through a writ of certiorari. CP 142-146.

The court conducted a hearing on October 4, 2013, found that Appellant still had the adequate alternate remedy of a §1983 action in which to bring his claims, and granted an order of dismissal and denied Appellant's motion to amend. RP1, at 16. On November 1, 2013, the court entered the written order of dismissal and denial of motion to amend. CP 148-149.

ARGUMENT

- A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING CR 12(c) DISMISSAL OF APPELLANT'S CLAIMS.
- 1. Standard of Review of CR 12(c) Dismissal

Washington courts treat a CR 12(c) motion for judgment on the pleadings identically to a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim. PE Systems LLC v. CPI Corp., 176 Wn.2d 198, 203, 289 P.3d 638 (2012). The only practical difference between the two motions is timing: a CR 12(b)(6) motion is made after the complaint but before the answer; a CR 12(c) motion is made after the pleadings are closed. Id.

Appellate courts review a CR 12(c) dismissal de novo. Id.

A dismissal under CR 12(c) is appropriate only if it appears
beyond a doubt that the plaintiff cannot prove any set of facts
that would justify recovery. Id., at 203. In undertaking such
an analysis, the plaintiff's allegations are presumed to be true
and a court may consider hypothetical facts not included in the
record. Ent v. Wash. St. Crim. Justice Training Comm'n, 174
Wh.App. 615, 621, 301 P.3d 468 (2013).

A CR 12(c) dismissal should be granted sparingly. Id., at 621. Such dismissals are appropriate only in unusual cases where, on the face of the complaint, there is some insuperable bar to relief. Protect the Peninsula's Future v. City of Port Angeles, 175 Wn.App. 201, 208, 304 P.3d 914 (Div.2, 2013) (citation omitted).

When reviewing a trial court's ruling on a CR 12(c) motion, the appellate court must take the facts alleged in the complaint, as well as hypothetical facts consistent therewith, in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Questions of law are reviewed de novo. Davenport v. Wash. Educ. Ass'n, 147 Wn.App. 704, 715, 197 P.3d 686 (Div.2, 2008). Any hypothetical situation conceivably raised by the complaint defeats a [CR 12] motion if it is legally sufficient to support plaintiff's claim. Corp. of Catholic Arch. of Seattle, 162 Wn.App. 183, 189, 252 P.3d 914 (2011).

2. Relief Under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act

Washington's Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (UDJA) provides:

"Courts of record within their respective jurisdictions shall have power to declare rights, status or other legal relations whether or not further relief is or could be claimed...." RCW 7.24.010;

"A person...whose rights, status or other legal relations are affected by a statute...may have determined any question of construction or validity arising under the...statute...and obtain a declaration of rights, status or other legal relations thereunder." RCW 7.24.020;

"The enumeration in RCW 7.24.020...does not limit or restrict the excercise of the general powers conferred in RCW 7.24.010, in any proceeding where declaratory relief is sought, in which a judgment or decree will terminate the controversy or remove any uncertainty." RCW 7.24.050.

A plaintiff seeking relief under the UDJA must assert "a legal right capable of judicial protection which exists in a statute, constitution or common law." Wash. Fed'n of State Employees v. State Pers. Bd., 23 Wn.App. 142, 148, 594 P.2d 1375 (1979). Unless a dispute involves "issues of major public importance, a justiciable controversy must exist before a court's jurisdiction may be invoked under the [UDJA]." League of Educ. Voters v. State, 176 Wn.2d 808, 816, 295 P.3d 743 (2013)(citations omitted).

3. There was not a Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction.

In its CR 12(c) motion to dismiss, Respondent apparently argued that there was a lack of subject matter jurisdiction precluding judicial review of Appellant's UDJA claims. CP 50-51. Determining subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law reviewed de novo. Williams v. Lenore & Keeble, Inc., 171 Wn.2d 726, 729, 254 P.3d 818 (2011).

Superior courts have original jurisdiction over Appellant's action for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief. RCW 2.08.010; RCW 7.24.010; RCW 7.40.010; Art.IV, §6 Wash Const. Any discussion of state court jurisdiction proceeds from the fundamental premise that superior courts have broad residual jurisdiction to hear all causes and proceedings over which jurisdiction is not vested exclusively in some other court.

Washington State superior courts are courts of general jurisdiction and are not constrained by subject matter jurisdiction under Art.III, §2. To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins, 100 Wn.App. 483, 489, 997 P.2d 960 (Div.2, 2000). "There is no doubt here that the superior court [has] subject matter jurisdiction in this declaratory judgment action." Casey v. Chapman, 123 Wn.App. 670, 676, 98 P.3d 1246 (2004).

4. A Justiciable Controversy Exists.

In the context of a UDJA action, a justiciable controversy is:

"(1)...an actual, present and existing dispute, or the mature seeds of one, as distinguished from a possible, dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot disagreement, (2) between parties having genuine and opposing interests, (3) which involves interest that must be direct and substantial, rather than potential, theoretical, abstract or academic, and (4) a judicial determination of which will be final and conclusive."

Nollette v. Christianson, 115 Wn.2d 594, 599, 800 P.2d 359 (1990).

The instant case meets all of these prerequisites.

Respondents found Appellant guilty of a prison infraction. CP

84-85. Respondents did not allow Appellant to present documentary
evidence in his defense. CP 66. Respondents did not provide

Appellant notice of all evidence used against him prior to the
infraction hearing. CP 64-65. Respondents did not provide

Appellant at least 24 hours notice of the hearing. CP 66.

Respondents filed a false public record stating the "hearing
process was conducted in accordance with Due Process and WAC

137-28." CP 68. Respondents filed a false public record stating
at least 24 hours advance notice was provided to Appellant before
the hearing. CP 68. Respondent filed a false public record
stating Appellant was "provided an opportunity to call witnesses
and present documentary evidence on [his] behalf." CP 68.

In conducting the infraction hearing, Respondents were required to give Appellant at least 24 hours notice of the hearing. WAC 137-28-290(1). Respondents were required to provide Appellant with all of the evidence against him prior to the hearing. WAC 137-28-290(2)(f). Respondents were required to allow Appellant to present documentary evidence on his behalf

at the hearing. WAC 137-28-300. Respondent was prohibited from filing a knowingly false public record. RCW 40.16.030.

As a result, Appellant was found guilty of the infraction. CP 84-85. Appellant was further forced to ship his music equipment out of the prison. RP1, at 5.

Respondent has argued that WAC 137-28 "do[es] not create any procedural or substantive rights," and instead are only intended as "guidelines." CP 52. However, WAC 137-28 operates under the statutory authority of RCW 72.01.090, and the Supreme Court has construed WAC 137-28 to have statutory effect and requirements. See In requirements. See In requirements. See In requirement. 186 Wn.2d 204, 217, 277 P.3d 288 (2010) (en banc) (Supreme Court relied upon the "requirement of WAC 137-28-270"); State v. Simmons, 152 Wn.2d 450, 457, 98 P.3d 789 (2004) (Supreme Court stating that "the [WAC 137-28-190(2)] code required..."); In re PRP of Higgins, 152 Wn.2d 155, 165, 95 P.3d 330 (2004) (Supreme Court stating inmate "Petitioner was entitled to...a right to...present documentary evidence. See WAC 137-28-290(2).")

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