NO. 45601-0-II

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVEN P. KOZOL,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, et al.,

Respondents.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS** 

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Brian J. Considine Assistant Attorney General WSBA #39517 Corrections Division OID #91025 PO Box 40116 Olympia WA 98504-0116 (360) 586-1445

#

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

Additionally, Mr. Kozol has no standing to bring an action for a violation of RCW 40.16.030. Inherent in the four elements establishing a justiciable controversy are the "traditional limiting doctrines of standing, mootness, and ripeness, as well as the federal case-or-controversy requirement." *To–Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 411, 27

P.3d 1149 (2001). To determine if a party has standing under the UDJA,
"a party must be within the 'zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the statute' in question and the party must have suffered an 'injury in fact." *City of Longview v. Wallin*, 174 Wn. App. 763, 778, 301 P.3d 45, 53 (2013) (citing *Am. Legion Post #149 v. Dep't of Health*, 164 Wn.2d 570, 593–94, 192 P.3d 306 (2008)).

To be properly considered an instrument under RCW 40.16.030, this analysis, a document must fall within the literal scope of a statute or valid regulation and be of "a character that the mischief the statute seeks to prevent would ensue if the document were filed." *Price*, 94 Wn.2d at 819 (quoting *People v. Bel Air Equip. Corp.*, 39 N.Y.2d 48, 54–55, 382 N.Y.S.2d 728, 346 N.E.2d 529 1976)). The instrument at issue is a form template and allegedly false statements were marked boxes related to Mr. Kozol's disciplinary due process. CP 68-69. Mr. Kozol's First Amended Complaint does not establish the disciplinary hearing appeal decision form as required by statute or rule or that this form was the type contemplated under the statute. *See Hampton*, 143 Wn.2d at 797 ("no regulation *requires, permits,* or even *authorizes* the filing of a form, [therefore] it cannot be said that the final inspection form was either explicitly or implicitly permitted or required by law.") (Emphasis in original).

Therefore, Mr. Kozol's claim is not within the zone of interests of RCW 40.16.030.

Mr. Kozol cites to Industrial Indem. Co. of the Northwest., Inc. v. Kallevig, 114 Wn.2d 907, 792 P.2d 520 (1990) and Miotke v. City of Spokane, 101 Wn.2d 307, 678 P.2d 803 (1984) as authorities for allowing his UDJA case against Mr. Jackson. Opening Brief at 23. Neither case is controlling. Kallevig is not controlling because it addressed an insurance company's claim that it did not need to pay a claim arising from a restaurant fire. *Kallevig*, 114 Wn.2d at 910-13. An insurance company's duty under an insurance contract is a separate issue from Mr. Kozol's claim against Mr. Jackson arising from RCW 40.16.030. See RCW 7.24.020 and .030 specifically separate contract disputes from rights arising under a statute. See 15 Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Civil Procedure §§ 42:29-31 (2nd ed. 2009). Furthermore, it did not address a person's actions under a criminal statute. See Kallevig, 114 Wn.2d 907. Mr. Kozol's case was unrelated to an insurance contract and specifically asked the court to find Mr. Jackson committed a felony. Therefore, Kallevig is inapplicable.

*Miotke* answered the question "whether any cause of action against governmental units for injuries allegedly caused by their actions taken in violation of various environmental laws." 101 Wn.2d at 309. *Miotke* did not determine if a criminal violation occurred. *See id.* Instead, it determined if the government could be held civilly liable for discharging raw sewage into a river causing damage to the plaintiff. *Id.* at 329-37. RCW 40.16.030's sole purpose is criminal and it provides no civil remedy. Futhermore, Mr. Kozol's claim did not seek damages for violations of various environmental laws. Therefore, *Miotke* is inapplicable.

However, *Brown v. Vail*, 169 Wn.2d 318, 334-35, 237 P.3d 263 (2010) is advisory. In *Brown*, the Washington Supreme Court recognized the enforcement of the statute rests in the executive agencies and a declaratory judgment would not settle the lawsuit. *Id*. Thus, the Court found no justiciable controversy for plaintiff's claim that the Department was violating the Controlled Substances Act since a court opinion would not end the controversy. *Id*.

Mr. Kozol also argues that he can seek a declaratory judgment to determine if Defendants' actions were in violation of WAC 137-28. Opening Brief at 18-23. Mr. Kozol's First Amended Complaint alleged Mr. Jones and Mr. Jackson failed to follow their obligations under WAC 137-28-290 and WAC 137-28-300. CP 32-34. Thus, Mr. Kozol sought a ruling on the proper administration of WAC 137-28-290 and WAC 137-28-300 rather than a ruling on the proper construction of these WACs.

A ruling on the proper administration of a WAC is not the proper subject matter for a declaratory judgment. See Bainbridge Citizens United, 147 Wn. App. at 374. Instead, declaratory judgment actions are meant "to determine the facial validity of an enactment, as distinguished from its application or administration." City of Federal Way, 62 Wn. App. at 535 (citing Seattle-King County Council of Camp Fire v. Dep't of Revenue, 105 Wn.2d 55, 57-58, 711 P.2d 300 (1985)). Mr. Kozol did not raise a challenge to WAC 137-28's validity or construction therefore "a declaratory judgment is not an available remedy under the power specifically enumerated in RCW 7.24.020." Bainbridge Citizens United, 147 Wn. App. at 375. Lastly, Mr. Kozol fails to provide any authority that the UDJA is the appropriate avenue to challenge the Department's actions during a prison disciplinary hearing. Thus, Mr. Kozol's challenge of the administration of WAC 137-28 during his disciplinary hearing and subsequent appeal is outside of the scope of the UDJA.

Mr. Kozol also argues *Bainbridge Citizens United* is not applicable to his case. Opening Brief at 21-22. Mr. Kozol asserts he did not seek to compel Defendants to enforce a statute or WAC against a third party. Opening Brief at 22. Instead, he wanted WAC 137-28 enforced against Defendants and RCW 40.16 against Mr. Jackson. Opening Brief at 22. Mr. Kozol's argument is evidence that the reasoning in *Bainbridge Citizens United* applies and the purpose of his case was outside the scope of RCW 7.24.020. The plain language of RCW 7.24.020 only allows a person to raise a question of "construction or validity arising under the instrument, statute, ordinance, contract or franchise." *Bainbridge Citizens United* confirmed the plain meaning by finding there is no cause of action under the UDJA where the sole question before the Court is "whether the [agency] properly applied or administered [a specific WAC]." *Id.* at 374-75. The Court's legal reasoning is directly applicable to this case and consistent with the UDJA's statutory language even though the facts in *Bainbridge Citizens United* are not analogous to Mr. Kozol's First Amended Complaint.

## 2. Appellant's First Amended Complaint Failed To State A Justiciable Controversy Because Mr. Kozol Did Not Have Standing And Any Ruling Would Be Advisory Only

Mr. Kozol argues the scope of his First Amended Complaint and its alleged facts establish a justiciable controversy under the UDJA. Opening Brief at 13-16. However, Mr. Kozol's desire to obtain a declaratory judgment finding the disciplinary hearing process violated WAC 137-28 and Mr. Jackson committed a Class C felony fails as a matter of law. Before a court assumes jurisdiction and determines a question under the UDJA, a plaintiff must show there is a justiciable controversy present. *To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 411, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001); *Burman v. State*, 50 Wn. App. 433, 439, 749 P.2d 708 (1988). A justiciable controversy is present if there is:

(1) an actual, present and existing dispute, or the mature seeds of one, as distinguished from a possible, dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot disagreement, (2) between parties having genuine and opposing interests, (3) which involves interests that must be direct and substantial, rather than potential, theoretical, abstract or academic, and (4) a judicial determination of which will be final and conclusive.

*To-Ro Trade Shows*, 144 Wn.2d at 411. The court steps into the prohibited area of issuing an advisory opinion if a justiciable controversy element is not met. *Id.*, 144 Wn.2d at 416.

Here, a decision on Mr. Kozol's First Amended Complaint would have been advisory only. A justiciable controversy does not exist if a declaratory judgment will not produce a final and conclusive determination that would terminate the uncertainty or controversy giving rise to the proceeding. *Brown v. Vail*, 169 Wn.2d 318, 335, 237 P.3d 263 (2010). The UDJA "is designed to settle and afford relief from insecurity and uncertainty with respect to rights, status and other legal relations." *Pasado's Safe Haven v. State*, 162 Wn. App. 746, 759-60, 259 P.3d 280 (2011) (citing *DiNino v. State*, 102 Wn.2d 327, 330, 684 P.2d 1297 (1984)).

Mr. Kozol argues a declaratory judgment would have a direct and coercive effect on Defendants because declaratory judgments have the full force and effect of a final judgment. Opening Brief, at 33-34. This argument mistakes a UDJA claim leading to final judgment with the final judgment producing a final and conclusive resolution to Mr. Kozol's claims. The Court will not usually entertain a declaratory judgment action when "enforcement of the alleged violations remains in the discretion of the agency, and no party is bound to act in accord with such judgment." *Brown*, 169 Wn.2d at 334.

A UDJA action cannot go to the proper administration of a WAC or statute. Thus, a court cannot say whether or not the Department violated its WAC or statute or take the next step at expunging the serious infraction from Mr. Kozol's prison record. This is evidenced by RAP 16 and its granting of jurisdiction to the Court of Appeals and Supreme Court for challenging disciplinary infractions.

Furthermore, Mr. Kozol concedes he is now barred by res judicata from bringing a civil rights and tort claim because of his previous case filed in federal court. Opening Brief, at 23-24, 27-28. He also argues he is unable to bring a personal restraint petition. Opening Brief, at 25-27.

20

Therefore, a declaratory judgment would not assist him in bringing a civil rights or tort suit in state or federal court challenging the disciplinary hearing or loss of his guitar. A declaratory judgment would not establish the validity of a personal restraint petition.

Additionally, a declaratory judgment finding Mr. Jackson violated RCW 40.16.030 has no coercive effect on Mr. Jones or Mr. Jackson. Additionally, neither the Department nor a prosecutor's office is required to take action and the enforcement of the alleged violation remains in the discretion of the agency or a county prosecutor's office.<sup>3</sup> Consequently, Mr. Kozol did not have a UDJA claim under RCW 40.16.030.

### 3. Mr. Kozol's Case Is Not Of Great Public Importance And *Kitsap County v. Smith* Is Not Controlling

Mr. Kozol relies upon *Kitsap County v. Smith*, 143 Wn. App. 893, 902, 180 P.3d 834 (2008) for his ability to bring a UDJA action against Mr. Jackson for alleged violations of RCW 40.16.030. Opening Brief at 21-23, 31-33. However, Mr. Kozol's reliance on *Kitsap County* is misplaced and his argument for a declaratory judgment under RCW

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Kozol cites to *Eller v. Ladenburg*, No. 19028-1-II, 1996 WL 520606 (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 13, 1996), an unpublished decision, for the proposition that the trial court would convene a grand jury against Mr. Jackson if Mr. Kozol succeeded in establishing a felony violation. Opening Brief at 22, n.1. However, this case focused on a mandamus action brought by an attorney challenging the prosecutorial discretion to not prosecute a perjury claim against an adverse witness in the attorney's civil case. The attorney was ultimately sanctioned under CR 11 for his frivolous claim and the Court's footnote dicta concerning RCW 10.27.030 does not establish a final and conclusive resolution to Mr. Kozol's claims.

40.16.030 is unsupported by this case. In *Kitsap County*, the County sued Smith for his recording of private conversations with County employees contrary to Washington State's Privacy Act—RCW 9.73. *Kitsap County*, 143 Wn. App. at 898-99. In addition, the County sought relief under RCW 40.14 and RCW 40.16 for the return of records Smith wrongfully removed from the County's custody and control as they were public records within the meaning of RCW 40.14. *Id.* at 899, 910-913.

The trial court dismissed the County's UDJA claims determining there was no justiciable controversy. *Id.* at 900. On appeal, this Court determined the County could seek a declaratory judgment because the issues confronted by the County were of "great public importance" reasoning the County needed to be able to advise its employees on the legal limits of recording work-related conversations and establish appropriate policies addressing this issue. *Id.* at 908-09. The Court reached this decision based on case precedent stating "issues of 'broad overriding import' may persuade a court to exercise its discretion in favor of reaching an issue which is otherwise not justiciable." *Id.* at 908 (citing *Snohomish County v. Anderson*, 124 Wn.2d 834, 840–41, 881 P.2d 240 (1994)).

Thus, unlike the facts in this case, the decision to allow the Declaratory Judgment Act was based on an exception to the justiciable

22

controversy requirement under RCW 7.24 where the Court found a declaratory judgment was of great public importance. *Kitsap County*, 143 Wn. App. at 909. Mr. Kozol does not argue his case is of great public importance.<sup>4</sup> *See* Opening Brief, at 32-33. Additionally, Mr. Kozol was not in the same position as Kitsap County. Kitsap County had a need to determine the validity of Smith's actions so it could advise its employees on the legality of recording conversations with other public employees along with its need to establish policies ensuring a person's privacy was protected. Furthermore, it had the ability to prosecute Smith, if necessary.

Mr. Kozol's First Amended Complaint is not of great public importance because the resolution of his case is not of wide-spread importance. Any decision regarding his prison disciplinary hearing would have been narrowly tailored the facts of his case and not applicable to others. In essence, it is a standard personal restraint petition disguised as a claim under the UDJA. Therefore, *Kitsap County* is not controlling and the trial court correctly determined no justiciable controversy existed and Mr. Kozol's claims were not of great public importance favoring the issuance of a declaratory judgment in the absence of a justiciable controversy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mr. Kozol's counsel argued before the trial court that Mr. Kozol's claims were of great public importance and did not argue there was a justiciable controversy. RP (October 4, 2013) at 5-8.

## C. Mr. Kozol's Motion For Leave To Amend Was Untimely, Futile, And Prejudicial To The Department

Mr. Kozol argues that the trial court abused its discretion in denying him leave to file a second amended complaint. Opening Brief at 34-40. However, Mr. Kozol's second amendment prejudiced the Defendants because it was untimely and futile. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying his motion to amend.

Granting or refusing permission to amend pleadings rests with the sound discretion of the trial court. *Criscola v. Guglielmelli*, 50 Wn.2d 29, 308 P.2d 239 (1957). The trial court's denial of leave to file a second amended complaint is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Watson v. Emard*, 165 Wn. App. 691, 697-98, 267 P.3d 1048 (2011). An abuse of discretion occurs if the decision to deny was based on tenable grounds or tenable reasons. *Id.* at 698. "The touchstone for denying amendment of a complaint is the prejudice such amendment will cause the nonmoving party." *Id.* at 699. "In determining prejudice, a court considers the possible undue delay, unfair surprise, and the futility of amendment." *Id.* 

## 1. Mr. Kozol's Request For Leave To Amend Was Untimely And Prejudicial To Defendants

Mr. Kozol's proposed second amended complaint was untimely. Mr. Kozol's proposed second amended complaint raised claims previously dismissed and sought to assert new claims for a writ of certiorari based on the same set of facts identified in his current First Amended Complaint. CP 105-109.

Mr. Kozol's concession that his first amended complaint did not contain a tort claim made the purpose of setting an order presentation hearing moot. The trial court would have dismissed Mr. Kozol's case previously if he had informed the trial court that he was not alleging a tort claim. *See* RP (October 4, 2013) at 16-17. Instead, the sole purpose of the hearing was to enter an order of dismissal and to determine whether there was a remaining tort claim. *See* RP (October 4, 2013) at 16-17. It was undue delay for Mr. Kozol to file a motion to amend keeping his dismissed claims and adding new claims not related to the trial court's purpose in setting an order presentation hearing.

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